IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC04-866

HENRY GARCIA,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NEAL A. DUPREE

Capital Collateral Regional
Counsel

Florida Bar No. 311545

WILLIAM M. HENNIS, III Litigation Director Florida Bar No. 0066850

LAW OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-

101 N.E. 3rd AVE., SUITE 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301

SOUTH

(954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Dade County, entered the judgments of convictions and sentences under consideration.

On October 8, 1985, a Dade County grand jury indicted Mr. Garcia for two counts of first degree murder, one count of sexual battery and one count of armed burglary.

Mr. Garcia was first tried in May 1988, found guilty, and sentenced to death. On direct appeal this Court granted Mr. Garcia a new trial. See Garcia v. State, 564 So.2d 124 (Fla. 1990).

Mr. Garcia was retried May 14 through May 28, 1991. On May 23, 1991, a jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts. The jury recommended a life sentence without the possibility of parole for twenty five years on the charge of first-degree murder as to Mabel Avery by a vote of seven to five. The jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of twelve to zero as to the first-degree murder of Julia Ballentine (R. 1629).

On July 12, 1991, the trial court sentenced Mr. Garcia to death for both counts of first degree murder, overriding the jury's recommendation as to Ms. Avery (R. 1640-1641).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Garcia's convictions and sentences. <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 644 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 1799 (1995).

On March 26, 1997, Mr. Garcia, filed an incomplete Motion to Vacate in order to toll the time. On April 24, 2000 Mr. Garcia filed a Consolidated Amended Motion. After the State responded, a Huff hearing was held on October 20, 2000.

On May 9, 2001, the lower court entered an order concerning what claims in the Rule 3.850 motion an evidentiary hearing would be granted, stating: A[T]his Court has found that there will be an evidentiary hearing on the claims concerning ineffective assistance at the guilt phase as they relate to counsel—s failure to fully investigate Rufina Perez Cruz and her relationship with Elizabeth Feliciano and Feliciana Aguero; his failure to investigate the defense of intoxication and his failure to investigate and present more evidence of other suspects; and his failure to present

¹According to an affidavit filed by the court reporting agency, the stenographic notes for the Huff hearing on October 20, 2000 were destroyed in a fire before being transcribed, along with those from two other hearings in the instant case, March 3, 2000 and August 14, 2000. PCR. 652.

evidence in mitigation (other than model prisoner testimony).@ PCR 542.

Subsequently, on June 18, 2003, Mr. Garcia served an amendment to his Rule 3.850 motion including new claims XXXI and XXXII concerning <u>Ring v. Arizona</u> and the constitutionality of lethal injection. Supp.PCR 716-912.

The lower court entered an order on August 6, 2003 denying an evidentiary hearing on these two new claims.

Supp.PCR. 927. Thereafter, a limited evidentiary hearing based on the lower court=s May 2001 order was held on November 17, 2003. PCR. 653-724.

Only one witness was called at the evidentiary hearing, re-trial counsel Reemberto Diaz. Mr. Diaz testified on direct that he was appointed to represent Mr. Garcia in the early 1990s. PCR. 669. He recalled that Mr. Garcias prior counsel was Clinton Pitts, who had represented Mr. Garcia at his first trial, when he was convicted and sentenced to death. PCR 670. He stated that he received everything related to Mr. Garcias case that Pitts had, including the prior discovery. Id. He testified that he never received any additional discovery from the State nor did he take any depositions after he was appointed to do the re-trial. PCR. 671.

He testified that the work records concerning when and where Mr. Garcia was working at the time of the offense were important in regards to Pitts= defense case. PCR. 672. Mr. Diaz also testified that there was no physical evidence of any kind linking Mr. Garcia to the murder of the two sisters. PCR. 672. He agreed that the witnesses Feliciano Aguayo, Elizabeth Feliciano and Rufina Perez/Cruz Aplayed a significant role in the trial@ of what was a circumstantial evidence case. PCR. 673. He testified that he had at best a vague recollection that perhaps Mr. Garcia was related in some way to one or more of these witnesses. PCR. 674-76.

Mr. Diaz recalled that he did question Ms. Perez about whether her testimony at trial had been influenced in some way by the existence of a reward for information concerning the murder of the two sisters. PCR. 676. Mr. Diaz testified that while he did bring up in opening statement that Mr. Garcia had a lot to drink on the night of the murders, he never followed up with that theme in his examination of Feliciano Aguayo, and was Acertainly not raising the issue on intoxication. PCR. 678-83. He then testified that he attempted to point to another suspect, a Ahomeless guy@ with Adirty hair@ named John Conners, Jr. PCR. 683-89.

On cross-examination, Mr. Diaz testified that he intended to use the work records of Mr. Garcia at trial. PCR 690. He stated that unlike Pitts before him, he wanted to focus on another suspect as a central feature of his defense of Mr. Garcia. PCR. 691. At the instruction of the lower court, he testified that Mr. Garcia told him that Feliciano Aguayos account of seeing Mr. Garcia with a knife on the morning after the murders with some blood on him was true, although Mr. Diaz qualified this by saying that Mr. Garcia told him that the blood was from a bar fight of some sort. PCR. 693. He also testified that Mr. Garcia told him that Elizabeth Feliciano could not have seen him that morning from the bathroom where she was taking a shower. PCR. 694.

Diaz stated that his recollection was that although he did question Rufina Perez on the witness stand about a reward, no reward was ever paid to anyone related to Mr. Garcias case. PCR. 697-98. He testified that he never contemplated putting Mr. Garcia on the witness stand to testify about his drinking on the night of the offense or about anything else. Awe were not going to do that. PCR. 698-700. Diaz stated that his purpose in raising the issue of Mr. Garcias drinking was to demonstrate the inherent unreliability of his clients recollections to counter-act the States attack on his alleged

alibi. AI wasn=t trying to show that he was drunk or that he wasn=t intoxicated.@ PCR. 700.

In response to the States inquiry, Mr. Diaz described

John Conners as a Agood scape goat@ for purposes of his defense
of Mr. Garcia. PCR. 700. Diaz agreed that pursuing whether

John Connors had been eliminated as a suspect would have
potentially Aopened the door@ to evidence coming into the case
from Enrique Fernandez, Mr. Garcias co-defendant, who had
previously given a confession to law enforcement implicating
Mr. Garcia in the murders of the two sisters. PCR. 700-05.

AThere was some relationship between [Fernandezs plea] and
dropping this retard or whoever he was that lived in the woods
behind his parents house.@ PCR 702.

Mr. Diaz then testified about his attempt to use David Rhodes, a State Ahair expert@, in the defense case. PCR. 705-08. Mr. Diaz agreed that the jury deliberated for eleven hours before returning a guilty verdict against Mr. Garcia. PCR. 709. He testified that he could not recall what Elizabeth Feliciano said. PCR. 709. His stated that his goal was to make the jury believe that the witnesses against Mr. Garcia were anticipating receiving a reward. PCR. 710.

He testified that he called police witness technician

David Gilbert who was not a detective to ask about possible

other suspects so he could Afeel safe that he-s not going to come in and say, Well somebody else confessed to the crime, that-s why.-@ PCR 715.

On re-direct, he testified that no knife was ever recovered from Mr. Garcia=s custody. PCR. 716. Diaz testified that even if Feliciano Aguayo and Rufina Perez were related to each other, AI know what the values of Hispanics are and so I really don=t pay too much attention to that because when they tell you, you know, we are somewhat related, usually they are so far distant, that it=s meaningless.@ PCR. 717. He then testified that he could not recall if he had ever interviewed Detective Gordil[la]. PCR. 720.

On re-cross, Diaz recalled that Detective Gordil[la] was the first detective assigned to the case of the murder of the two sisters, but not the detective that Asolved@ the case.

PCR. 721.²

After Mr. Diaz was excused, the lower court admitted without objection a copy of Rufina Perez=s deposition to

²See Order Denying Defendant Henry Garcia≈s Claim for Postconviction Relief, April 13, 2004(AIt is obvious that evidence establishes that the Areport@ of Detective Miriam Royle (f/k/a Gordilla) was not a reliable account of what Ms. Perez-Cruz had told police [in 1983] when they first interviewed her@).

perpetuate testimony which had been taken on September 22, 2000 Awhen she was gravely ill at the time.@ PCR. 722.

In the deposition, Ms. Perez testified that the first time any police officers came to talk to her about the case there was a woman and two men who identified themselves as investigators who asked her if she knew Enrique AKiki@

Fernandez and Henry Garcia. D8. She told them that she knew Kiki because Ahe played with my sons and all that@ but that she did not know Mr. Garcia Athat much.@ Id.

She then testified that she did not use her husbands=
names from her first two marriages, Ramos and Cruz. D9. She
denied using the name Josephina Cruz. D10. She stated that
her father used to live at 136, or 13600 SW 312th Street, at
the same time she lived at 132 Court #40. D14. She stated
that she lived at that address from 1965 until Hurricane
Andrew. D15. She then testified that she never told the
female Latin police officer she first spoke with that she had
heard Mr. Garcia talking to Enrique AKiki@ Fernandez in the
field on the day she overheard Mr. Garcia. D16. She
reiterated that she had known Enrique Fernandez and his mother
and his brothers since they were children. D17.

She then denied that she told the police woman she first talked to that she had heard Henry Garcia Asay something like

I killed some guys and old ladies@. D18. She then testified that Elizabeth Feliciano is the mother of her brother-in-law, Feliciano Aguayo, who is married to her sister Linda. D20. She confirmed that she also knew George (Jorge) Feliciano, Elizabeth=s husband. D20.

Ms. Perez then stated that she never had heard about a reward concerning the murders of the sisters in Leisure City. D21. She stated that around the time the murders took place she heard Henry Garcia say something although he didn=t Aexactly@ say that he committed the murders. D22.

Ms. Perez then testified that several years later she gave a sworn statement before a court reporter on September 17, 1985 about her recollections. D27. After several questions concerning that statement, Ms. Perez recalled the comments that she overheard Mr. Garcia make to unknown field workers on a break from picking limes. AThis man asked [Mr. Garcia] what happened, what he did or do. And they asked him, they said, te las chingaste. And he say, yes, I fucked them up. They will not bother me anymore because they=re already in hell.@ D28.

She further testified that she hardly knew Mr. Garcia, but he was there working, picking tomatoes and limes, and she did not know who the other people he was talking that day with

were. D30. She stated that she also knew Mr. Garcia had an Uncle Wally. Id.

Ms. Perez again denied knowing anything about or seeking a reward in this case. D31-32. She then denied ever talking with Elizabeth and Jorge Feliciano about either helping to bail Feliciano Aguayo out of jail or about telling the police that Mr. Garcia was the killer in order to get a reward. D32-33. On cross, Ms. Perez stated that she had never seen the police report dated 8/25/83 memorializing Detective M.G. Royles contact with AJosephina Cruz@ at 9:00 p.m. at 13600 SW 312 Street, South Dade labor camp. D41-45. After counsel read the statement to her, Ms. Perez testified that everything that the police statement reported that she had said was all lies and that she never said it. D44-46.

Ms. Perez testified that she had never revealed to the State until this deposition that she was related to Feliciano Aguayo. D. 47-48. She also testified that Mr. Garcia-s codefendant, Enrique AKiki@ Fernandez is also a friend of hers. D.48. She also testified that she had represented herself as

 $^{^{3}}$ The report was attached as an exhibit to the deposition. It may also be found at PCR 566-67.

Enrique=s aunt and as his girlfriend, and had taken Enrique=s mother to visit him in jail. D49.

She identified her signature on a letter to Union

Correctional Institution (UCI) dated November 29, 1988 and a visitation application to UCI March 3, 1989 requesting to be allowed to visit Enrique Fernandez. D49-52. She stated that the State was not aware when she testified in 1991 that she was visiting Mr. Garcias co-defendant, and that she has never let the State know. D52. She testified that Enrique

Fernandezs mother is a Avery, very close@ friend who she has known for many years. D53. She stated that Ashe always told me about her sons troubles and I was telling her about mine.

Sometimes when we have parties, we party together. Her sons come over. They all would respect me. And they always said they were in love with me.@ D53.

Ms. Perez then testified that Cheryl Perez is her sister-in-law. D53. She stated that she never told law enforcement or the state attorney that Enrique Fernandez was one of the people who was sitting with Henry Garcia the day she overheard the conversation in the fields. D64. She then testified that she does not know if Mr. Garcia-s Uncle Wally was a labor contractor. She stated that she never worked for Wally. She admitted that Mr. Garcia may have worked for Wally. D65. She

Trevino, sometimes five days a week and sometimes he would not work all week. She says the work records should reflect that Mr. Garcia worked more than one day for Mr. Trevino. D65.

She volunteered that she never had a conversation with Mr. Garcia while he was working for Trevino or at any other time.

Ms. Perez agreed that the 1983 police report apparently does refer to her son, Richard Ramos, and although she denied ever going by the name Josephina Cruz, she agreed that she did sometimes use the name Fina Cruz. D67. She then testified that she had refused to give a sworn statement to the police in 1983. D69. She stated that when she did give a sworn statement in 1985, she had not done so earlier because nobody asked her. D70. Ms. Cruz testified that she is not able to spell very well. D72. Ms. Perez stated that the police officers who interviewed her in 1983 did ask her some questions about Enrique AKiki@ Fernandez D82. She also told the officers about the conversation she had overheard in the field between Mr. Garcia and others. D83.

Ms. Perez denied watching television reports about the murder with Elizabeth Feliciano or Jorge Feliciano. D86. She states that her recollection now is that she heard the

conversation in the fields between Mr. Garcia and the other men before she heard the news about the murders. D88. She testified that she has never been able to identify any of the other men that she heard Mr. Garcia talking to. D89. Enrique Fernandez and her son were Areal close friends.@ D94.

Following the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, the lower court entered an order denying all relief on April 14, 2004. PCR. 568-70. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

1. When Mr. Garcia attempted at the beginning of his evidentiary hearing below to waive the presentation of evidence on some of his penalty phase claims, the lower court had an

obligation pursuant to the case law to assure a clear record of waiver of mitigating factors. The lower court failed to require counsel for the Appellant to proffer into the record what evidence of mitigation was available to be presented at the evidentiary hearing on the penalty phase ineffective assistance of trial counsel claims. This negligent abuse of discretion was predicated on judicial bias and the lower courts lack of familiarity with the existing mitigation including Mr. Garcias mental status, which made any assurance of a knowing, intelligent and voluntary waiver impossible, to Mr. Garcias prejudice.

- 2. Certain public records, the existence of which was revealed by investigation, have never been provided to Mr. Garcia.
- 3. Trial counsels performance at the guilt phase of Mr. Garcias trial resulted in materially unreliable convictions. Evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing supported a finding that trial counsel failed to properly cross-examine state witnesses Rufina Perez, Feliciano Aguayo and Elizabeth Feliciano

concerning their familial relationships and statements to law enforcement. Trial counsels deficient performance was also

exhibited by his lack of preparation for his examination of witnesses Gilbert and Aquayo.

- 4. Trial counsel=s performance during voir dire was deficient and the resulting prejudice was Mr. Garcia=s convictions and two death sentences.
- 5. The prosecutors arguments throughout the trial below were inflammatory and improper. Trial counsels repeated failure to object to these comments constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.
- 6. Most of Mr. Garcia claims below were summarily denied without a hearing or found to be procedurally barred. The claims included herein are not impacted by the alleged waiver at the evidentiary hearing. An evidentiary hearing is required on the penalty phase and guilt phase claims where the files and records in this case do not conclusively show that Mr. Garcia is entitled to no relief.
- 7. This Court should consider the cumulative effect of all the evidence not presented to the jury whether due to trial counsel=s ineffectiveness, the State=s misconduct, or because the evidence is newly discovered.

ARGUMENT I

APPELLANT:S ALLEGED WAIVER OF PENALTY PHASE CLAIMS AT EVIDENTIARY HEARING WAS INVALID WHERE THE LOWER COURT FAILED TO DIRECT COUNSEL TO PROFFER INTO THE RECORD WHAT THE EVIDENCE OF MITIGATION WOULD BE AND TO CONFIRM WITH APPELLANT WHAT THE MITIGATION EVIDENCE WAS AND THAT THE EVIDENCE HAD BEEN DISCUSSED WITH HIM BY COUNSEL

The lower court ordered an evidentiary hearing on ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to present evidence of the defendants mental and physical health at the penalty phase, and in not obtaining the testimony of experts such as a clinical psychologist, neuropsychologist, neurologist, and a toxicologist. PCR. 537.

The lower court also ordered an evidentiary hearing on trial counsel Diaz= failure to present evidence of the defendant=s childhood and upbringing. PCR 537. Mr. Garcia=s rule 3.850 motion included a detailed life history gleaned from substantial investigation and collection of secondary source materials. Supp.PCR. 835-47. This included a detailed description of his juvenile placement in the custody of the Texas Youth Commission (ATYC@) from the age of thirteen to nineteen. SuppPCR. 839-47. In addition, several defense experts were retained during postconviction. One of them,

clinical psychologist, Dr. Faye Sultan, did additional investigation into and verification of Mr. Garcia=s background.

Mr. Garcia pled below that trial counsel, Reemberto Diaz, failed to investigate and prepare at all for the penalty phase of Mr. Garcia's trial. Supp.PCR 820-25; 827-50. Mr. Diaz was appointed to represent Mr. Garcia in his 1991 re-trial in lieu of prior trial counsel Clinton Pitts. Mr. Garcia's trial began on May 13, 1991. The jury returned with a guilty verdict on May 23, 1991. The penalty phase began on May 28, 1991.

Diaz simply failed to conduct any penalty phase investigation or preparation prior to the jury's guilty verdict on May 23, 1991. Failure to prepare a case in mitigation until after a guilty verdict is objectively unreasonable attorney performance, and constitutes ineffective assistance of counsel. Blanco v. Singletary, 943 F.2d 1477 (11th Cir. 1991).

The transcript of the limited evidentiary hearing held on November 17, 2003 covers only 69 pages. PCR. 655-724. The only witness called at the hearing was trial counsel Reemberto Diaz. Prior to the testimony of Diaz, the lower court took up two matters at the request of Kenneth Malnick, lead counsel for Mr.

Garcia. The first matter was Mr. Malnick=s recent discovery that his second cousin, Stuart Adelstein, was Asharing office

space@ with Mr. Diaz. PCR. 655. At the request of the lower court, Mr. Garcia stated on the record that he had no concerns about Mr. Malnick=s cousin=s relationship with his former trial counsel:

THE COURT: Does this bother you in any way that Mr. [Malnick] is related to someone who shares space with him?

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