IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-866

HENRY GARCIA,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0012068 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5655

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

violated and referred to his public records and ineffective assistance claims. Under these circumstances, the claim was facially insufficient and properly denied as such. *Ragsdale*, 720 So. 2d at 207. Moreover, while Defendant now refers to his public records claim, his claim about a family relationship between the witnesses and his assertion that Perez had a relationship with the codefendant, he did not raise these claims below and they are not properly before this Court. *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1, 11 n.5 (Fla. 2003). Moreover, Defendant has still not pled all of the elements of a *Brady* claim. As such, it was properly denied.

IV. THE VOIR DIRE CLAIM.

Defendant next that his trial counsel asserts was ineffective during voir dire. Defendant specifically mentions the alleged failure to ask any questions regarding any predisposition to a death sentence, the alleged failure to exercise a cause challenge against Juror Hepburn and the alleged failure to question Juror Gentile and two other veniremembers Defendant does not even name⁵ about pretrial publicity. However, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim as it was insufficiently plead and refuted by the record.

⁵ The record cites reflect Defendant was referring to Dan Rankow and Diane Capilla.

Again, Defendant recites the claims he raised in the lower court and mentions the lower court's ruling but presents no argument regarding why the lower court erred in rendering its ruling. Since Defendant has not presented any argument concerning why the lower court erred, he has waived these claims. *Bryant*, 901 So. 2d at 827-28; *Duest*, 555 So. 2d at 852. The denial of post conviction relief should be affirmed.

Even if the issue had been properly briefed and not waived, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. The lower court properly denied the claim as facially insufficient. In order to state a facially sufficient claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must allege both that his counsel was deficient in a specific manner and that the defendant was prejudiced by the alleged deficiency. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *see also Phillips v. State*, 894 So. 2d 28, 35-36 (Fla. 2004)(requiring proof of both prongs in a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel at voir dire). To allege prejudice sufficiently, a defendant must demonstrate that but for counsel's allegedly deficient conduct, there is a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different. *Id.* at 694. Moreover, the allegation of prejudice must be more than conclusory. *Ragsdale*, 720 So. 2d at 207.

Here, the claim Defendant presented in the lower court asserted that counsel was deficient for failing to question the veniremembers about their views on the death penalty, for failing to attempt to rehabilitate veniremembers who were opposed to the death penalty, for failing to seek to excuse Mr. Hepburn for cause, for failing to question the venire about pretrial publicity and for the manner in which he question the venire generally. (SR. 489-505) However, Defendant made no allegation of prejudice even in a conclusory manner. (SR. 489-505) Instead, Defendant made statements asserting that the effect of the alleged deficiency could never been known. (SR. 494, 503) Given the lack of allegations of prejudice, the claim was facially sufficient. Phillips, 894 So. 2d at 35-36; Ragsdale, 720 So. 2d at 207. The claim was properly denied as such.

Moreover, the record conclusively refutes Defendant's claim that his counsel did not question veniremembers about exposure to pretrial publicity. Defense counsel did question those veniremembers who indicated that they had heard of the case in the media. (DAR. 339-40, 363-65, 424-46, 500) Thus, he cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to do so. *Strickland*.

During its questioning, the State inquired if anyone had read or heard about the case in the media. (DAR. 331-32) Gentile

and two other veniremembers indicated that they had. (DAR. 332) At sidebar during the State's questioning, Mr. Gentile stated that he had read in the media that two elderly ladies were stabbed to death during a break-in and that the crime was gruesome and sick. (DAR. 338) Other than these basic facts, he had no knowledge of the matter. (DAR. 338-39) He stated that nothing he knew about the case would influence him as a juror. (DAR. 339) Defense counsel questioned Mr. Gentile about when he heard of the case and from what media outlet. (DAR. 339-40) He elicited that Mr. Gentile had not discussed what he had learned with anybody and that the only opinion he had formed was that the crime was terrible. (DAR. 340)

At sidebar, Mr. Rankow stated that he had read about the case when the crimes happened. (DAR. 361) The only thing he recalled was that the crime was particularly violent. (DAR. 361-62) When asked about having formed any opinions based on the publicity, he initially stated that he was perturbed by what happened but then stated that he had formed no fixed opinions regarding Defendant. (DAR. 362) Mr. Rankow stated that the nature of the crime would not cause him to find Defendant guilty unless the State proved that he was guilty. (DAR. 362-63) Defense counsel then questioned Mr. Rankow regarding whether he would hold the State to a lower burden of proof because of the

nature of the crime. (DAR. 363) Based on this questioning, Rankow made statements that the nature of the crime could possibly influence his verdict, that he would have difficulty viewing the evidence and that he could not give Defendant a fair trial. (DAR. 363-65)

Ms. Capilla stated at sidebar that she remembered reading about the case but did not recall any details. (DAR. 423-24) She remembered reading about the case upset her because she had an elderly mother. (DAR. 424) She had not formed any opinions about the case. (DAR. 424) Defense counsel questioned Ms. Capilla about when and where she read about the case. (DAR. 424-25) He elicited that all Ms. Capilla remembered was the nature of the victims and the manner of the murders. (DAR. 425) Upon defense questioning, Ms. Capilla stated that the only opinion she had formed was that the crime was horrible but she had formed no opinion about Defendant's guilt, which she regarded as a separate issue. (DAR. 425) Ms. Capilla did not believe that her limited knowledge of the case would influence her decision as a juror. (DAR. 425-26)

During his questioning of the venire, Defendant referred Mr. Rankow back to the prior sidebar and asked if he still maintained his beliefs. (DAR. 500) Mr. Rankow responded affirmatively. (DAR. 500)

Since defense counsel did question those veniremembers who indicated that they had ever heard of the case about their media exposure, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to do so. *Strickland*. Thus, the claim was properly summarily denied.

To the extent that Defendant is complaining that counsel did not ask the veniremembers again if any of them had heard of the case in the media, the claim was still properly summarily denied. The State inquired if any veniremembers had been exposed to the media coverage of this matter. Only Mr. Gentile, Mr. Rankow and Ms. Capilla indicated that they had been exposed. When the State questioned other veniremembers about whether they had indicated that they had been exposed to the media coverage in this matter, they all denied it. (DAR. 356, 358, 385) This Court has previously held that where the matter had already been the subject of voir dire questioning, counsel is not ineffective for failing to repeat the question. *Teffeteller v. Dugger*, 734 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1999); *see also Johnson v. State*, 903 So. 2d 888, 895-96 (Fla. 2005). Thus, the claim was properly summarily denied.⁶

[°] Moreover, the record reflects that none of the veniremembers who had been exposed to pretrial publicity served in this matter. Defendant used a peremptory challenge on Mr. Gentile. (DAR. 545) Defendant successfully moved to excused Mr. Rankow for cause based on his statements about publicity. (DAR. 549) Ms. Capilla was not reached during jury selection. (DAR. 4-6)

The record also refutes Defendant's claim with regard to the failure to seek to excuse Mr. Hepburn for cause. Hepburn was not the proper subject of a cause challenge. *Brown v. State*, 755 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). Under Florida law, a veniremember is not subject to a cause challenge merely because he or a family member has been the victim of a crime.

Here, when the trial court inquired if any veniremember would have difficulty being fair simply because of the nature of the charges, the entire venire responded no. (DAR. 238-39) The trial court stated in the question that it was particularly concerned with individuals who might have been or had a family member who had been either a defendant or a victim of a similar crime. *Id*.

Later, Dwight Hepburn informed the court that his brother had been the victim of a crime. (DAR. 267) During defense questioning, Mr. Hepburn stated that he had testified as a witness in cases regarding building code violations. (DAR. 489-90, 491) He stated that his prior interactions with the State as a witness in cases regarding building code violations would not influence him as a juror nor would he be embarrassed to run into the prosecutor if he had returned a not guilty verdict. (DAR. 490-91) Defense counsel later informed the court that Mr.

Hepburn had been a witness for him in cases he had handled years earlier. (DAR. 550)

jury had been selected but before opening After the statement, the State informed the court that Mr. Hepburn's brother had been murdered in the City of Miami and that the case regarding that murder was open. (DAR. 566-67) The State explained that Mr. Hepburn's brother had worked for Dade County, and that while at work, a robbery occurred in the area. (DAR. 568) Mr. Hepburn's brother had been struck by a stray bullet and killed. (DAR. 568) The trial court decided to question Mr. Hepburn about the incident. (DAR. 568) In doing so, the Court expressed the concern that questioning was necessary to ensure Hepburn was not the proper subject of a cause that Mr. challenge. (DAR. 567)

During questioning, Mr. Hepburn indicated that his brother was a building inspector, like Mr. Hepburn. (DAR. 569, 488-89) His brother had been a member of an inspection task force in the Overtown/Liberty City area and had been accidentally shot during a robbery of someone else. (DAR. 569-70) Mr. Hepburn affirmed that he bore no ill feelings because of the crime against his brother and that it would have no effect on his service as a juror. (DAR. 569-70) Upon questioning by the defense, Mr. Hepburn stated that the incident with his brother was entirely

separate from this matter, that he had no involvement in the investigation into his brother's death and that it would have no effect on his service in this matter. (DAR. 571-72)

Upon inquiry by the defense, the State indicated that a detective from the same department that had investigated Defendant's crimes had been assigned to Mr. Hepburn's brother's murder. (DAR. 572-73) However, that detective had left the homicide division. (DAR. 573) After conferring with Defendant, defense counsel announced that the defense was satisfied with Mr. Hepburn. (DAR. 573)

can be seen from the forgoing, Mr. Hepburn never As indicated that the fact that his brother had been killed during a robbery would affect his ability to be fair and impartial. Instead, he continually asserted that the crime against his brother was an entirely separate matter that would have no effect on his service in this matter. Thus, Mr. Hepburn would not have been properly excused for cause. Brown v. State, 755 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). Since any attempt to challenge Hepburn for cause would have been without merit, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make that attempt. Kokal 1998); Groover v. Dugger, 718 So. 2d 138, 143 (Fla. v. Singletary, 656 So. 2d 424, 425 (Fla. 1995); Hildwin v. Dugger,

654 So. 2d 107, 111 (Fla. 1995); Breedlove v. Singletary, 595 So. 2d 8, 11 (Fla. 1992).

Moreover, while Defendant asserts that the trial court expressed a willingness to excuse Mr. Hepburn for cause, this is not true. In discussing the need to question Hepburn about his brother being a murder victim, the trial court merely indicated that Mr. Hepburn should be questioned because questioning might reveal grounds for a cause challenge. (DAR. 567) Thus, the record does not reflect that the trial court ever believed that Mr. Hepburn was the proper subject of a cause challenge, which he was not. The claim was properly denied.

V. THE COMMENTS CLAIM.

Defendant next contends that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to comments the State made during opening and closing argument. However, Defendant is entitled to no relief as the issue is waived and the claims were properly denied.

Again, Defendant merely asserts the claim he raised below and the lower court's ruling. He presents no argument concerning why the lower court's ruling was improper. By failing to present any argument, Defendant has waived this issue. *Bryant*, 901 So. 2d at 827-28; *Duest*, 555 So. 2d at 852. The denial of post conviction relief should be affirmed.

Even if the claim had not been waived, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. This Court has held that claims of error regarding comments by the State and of ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to such comments are procedurally barred in post conviction proceedings. Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 697-99 (Fla. 1998). Moreover, on direct appeal, Defendant raised issues regarding the State's comments. Initial Brief of Appellant, FSC Case No. 78,411, at 41-58. This Court rejected the issues as unpreserved, without merit and harmless. Garcia, 644 So. 2d at 62-63. Moreover, this Court stated that Defendant was not deprived of a fair trial by the comments and entitled to no relief even if the issues had been preserved for review. Id. Again, the claim is procedurally barred. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995). Further, since this Court determined that the comments did not deprive Defendant of a fair trial, Defendant could not establish that he was prejudiced by the comments. Chandler v. State, 848 So. 2d 1031, 1046 (Fla. 2003). This claim was properly denied.

Moreover, Defendant did not explain how he was prejudiced by his counsel's failure to object to the State's comments about thoroughness of the investigation or to a multitude of comments that were, and are, referred to only by page number and assertion of impropriety in the comments. (SR. 506-26) Such a

lack of pleading is particularly important with regard to the comments about the thoroughness of the investigation, as a theme of the defense was that despite a thorough investigation, the State was unable to find any physical evidence linking Defendant to the crime. Since the claim was insufficiently plead, it was properly denied. *Ragsdale*, 720 So. 2d at 207.

Further, with regard to the comment that the witnesses were unrelated, Defendant takes the comment out of context. The State did not assert that the witnesses had no relationship; it asserted that the witnesses were unrelated in time and circumstances. (DAR. 588) The jury could not have interpreted the comment in the manner Defendant suggests because the State later asserted that Aguayo and Feliciano did have a family 588-607) Moreover, despite having been relationship. (DAR. granted an evidentiary hearing on the issue, Defendant did not show that the family relationship gave any of these witnesses a motive to lie. Under these circumstances, the comment was not improper, and the claim concerning it was properly denied. Kokal, 718 So. 2d at 143; Groover, 656 So. 2d at 425; Hildwin, 654 So. 2d at 111; Breedlove, 595 So. 2d at 11.

VI. THE SUMMARY DENIAL CLAIM.

Defendant next asserts certain claims were improperly summarily denied. Defendant lists a variety of disparate claims

that were summarily denied.⁷ However, Defendant is entitled to no relief as he has waived this issue and the claims were properly denied.

Again, Defendant fails to present any argument regarding why the denial of each of the various claims were improperly summarily denied. Instead, he again simply lists the claims and states how the lower court disposed on them. Again, such a presentation is insufficient to present an issue in this appeal and the issues have been waived. *Bryant*, 901 So. 2d at 827-28; *Duest*, 555 So. 2d at 852. Even if Defendant had sufficiently presented the issues in this appeal, Defendant would still be entitled to no relief. The claims were properly denied.

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